# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Number: SC01-1524 Lower Tribunal: 88-607CF

MARSHALL LEE GORE
Appellant

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

\_\_\_\_\_\_

# Appellant's Amended Initial Brief

R. Glenn Arnold

Florida Bar Number: 0324868 210-A East Government Street

Pensacola, Florida 32501 Telephone: 850-429-9757

Fax: 850-429-9758

Attorney for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### NATURE OF THE CASE:

This is an appeal from the denial of Appellant's Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences filed June 23, 1997. The appellant's amended motion to vacate is found at SR-VI-901. The trial court's ruling following the <u>Huff</u> Hearing, which summarily denied many of the appellant's claims, is found at SR-V-869. The trial court's order denying relief following the evidentiary hearing is found at SR-IX-1498.

# **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:**

On July 28, 1989 the grand jury of Columbia County, Florida returned an indictment against Gore, charging him with premeditated murder, kidnaping, and robbery. (R-2758-2759) Following trial, Gore was found guilty as to all charges, and the jury recommended a death sentence. (R-2723) On or about April 3, 1990, the trial court imposed a death sentence on the murder conviction, life imprisonment on the kidnaping conviction, and 15 years on the robbery conviction, all consecutive. (R-2729 thru 2752)

The Supreme Court, after striking the CCP aggravator, affirmed Gore's conviction and sentence in Gore v. State, 599 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1992), cert. den. 506 U.S. 1003, 113 S.Ct.610 (1992). Mandate issued August 5, 1992. (SR-I-1)

Following numerous motions filed by CCR, and other motions filed pro se, and following various hearings on said motions (see index SR-I), the Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence, which is the motion at issue in the instant appeal, was filed by CCR on February 27, 1997. The said amended motion consists of 145 pages and numerous counts or claims. (SR-VI-901 thru 1045) An additional amended motion to vacate was filed by CCR on July 22, 1997 (SR-VI-1048), but it is repetitive of the instant motion.

Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court entered an Order on June 13, 1997, summarily denying a number of Gore's claims, and granting an evidentiary hearing on other claims. (SR-V-869)

Additional motions to vacate were subsequently filed, for example SR-VII-1089, as were other motions to disqualify the trial judge (SR-VII-1160 and SR-VII-1296), and to disqualify the office of the State Attorney, Third Judicial District (SR-VII-1272), etc.

Eventually, however, following the withdrawal of CCR, the undersigned was appointed, and filed for an extension of time to file an amended motion to vacate on November 15, 1999. (SR-VIII-1431)

Notwithstanding the appellant's refusal to cooperate, an effort was made to file another fourth amended motion to vacate on February 14, 2000 (SR-VIII-

1436), but the appellant refused to sign the motion (SR-VIII-1441), and the appellant thereafter filed a pro se emergency motion for substitution of counsel on February 28, 2000. (SR-VIII-1444)

During a status conference hearing (SR-XVI-1728), the trial court entertained Gore's emergency motion for substitution of counsel; then, following Gore's comments that counsel should remain on the case (SR-XVI-1732), the trial court gave counsel an additional 90 days to file another amended motion.

Finally, because the appellant continued not to cooperate with counsel, the undersigned filed a motion to proceed on the amended motion to vacate filed by CCR back in February, 1997, the instant motion. (SR-IX-1469)

That motion to proceed on CCR's amended motion was granted by the trial court on July 5, 2000, and authorized counsel to proceed on 22 claims set forth in sections VII and XVIII of the said amended motion, all as previously referred to in the trial court's order of June 13, 1997. (SR-IX-1471)

Finally, an evidentiary hearing was held on December 14, 2000. (SR-XVII-1742) During the evidentiary hearing, counsel requested that the trial court reconsider the claims which had been summarily denied at the <u>Huff</u> hearing. (SR-XVII-1744 thru 1754)

On May 31, 2001, the trial court entered an order denying all of Gore's

claims for post-conviction relief. (SR-IX-1498)

Notice of Appeal was timely filed. SR-IX-1519)

# DISPOSITION IN LOWER TRIBUNAL:

The appellant was sentenced to death in the trial court, and the said sentence was upheld by the Supreme Court, as previously stated herein. The trial court has denied all of appellant's claims for post-conviction relief (SR-IX-1498 thru 1513), and this appeal follows.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS:

As found by the Florida Supreme Court, Gore, supra, 599 So.2d 978, 980-981, "Susan Roark was last seen alive on January 30, 1988, in Cleveland, Tennessee, in the company of Marshall Lee Gore. Gore had planned to travel to Florida with a friend from Cleveland. While waiting for his friend at a convenience store, Gore struck up a conversation with Roark. Gore then entered Roark's car, a black Mustang, and they drove away....

On April 2, 1998, the skeletonized remains of Roark's body were discovered in Columbia County, Florida. The naked body was found in a wooded area which had been used as an unauthorized dumping ground for household garbage and refuse. Expert testimony established that the body was placed in its location either at the time of death or within two hours of death. The body could have been there

anywhere from two weeks to six months prior to the discovery. The forensic pathologist who testified for the State concluded that the cause of death was a homicide, given the situation in which the body was found and the fact that the neck area of the body was completely missing. The pathologist explained that this was probably due to some injury to the neck, such as a stab wound or strangulation trauma, which provided a favorable environment for insects to begin the deterioration process....

Gore was arrested in Paducah, Kentucky, on March 17, 1988, on federal charges unrelated to this case. At this time, FBI agents informed Gore of his Miranda rights, Gore signed a written waiver form, and the agents began questioning him. When the agents asked Gore how he arrived in Paducah, he stated that he didn't want to answer any more questions. The agents immediately ceased their interrogation and took Gore to a federal prison. Several days later, on March 24th, Gore was interviewed by detectives from the Metro Dade police department. At the start of this interview, Gore was again informed of his Miranda rights and waived them. The detectives asked Gore various questions about his background and his knowledge of several crimes in the Miami area, as well as the Roark abduction. Gore made several statements at this time which were subsequently introduced at trial."

On his direct appeal, Gore was represented by Nancy A. Daniels, Public Defender, and W.C. McLain, Assistant Public Defender, Tallahassee, Florida.

On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court considered the following issues: (1) The trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress statements made to the Miami detectives (<u>Gore</u>, Page 981), (2) The trial court erred in admitting evidence of two other collateral crimes through two witnesses, Lisa Ingram and Tina Corolis. (Gore, Page 983) (3) The trial erred by denying him a continuance so that he could secure the attendance of a witness at trial who was pregnant. Gore also asserted error because he was not present at the videotaped deposition of the witness. (Gore, Page 984) (4) The trial court erred by denying his motion for acquittal as to the kidnaping charge. (Page Gore, 985) (5) The trial court erred in excusing the victim's grandmother from the sequestration rule. (Gore. Page 985) Gore's next assignments of error on appeal pertained to the penalty phase, where he claimed that the trial court erred by allowing the State to question a defense psychiatrist on the issue of his mental state at the time of the offense. (Gore, Page 986) The final arguments on appeal dealt with the trial court's findings at sentencing. (Gore, Page 986)

In his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences (SR-VI-901 thru 1045) Gore presented the following pertinent claims for post-conviction relief:

Claim II (SR-VI-Page 908)- The State lacked jurisdiction to try Gore, and ineffective assistance of counsel. The claim asserts that no evidence established that any of the essential elements of the three offenses occurred in Florida. The claim also asserts that trial defense counsel failed to raise jurisdiction as an issue, either in pleadings, argument, or jury instructions. The claim also asserts that the failure to raise jurisdiction as an issue was compounded by the prosecutor's argument (R-2499) that the State did not have to prove where the crime was committed beyond a reasonable doubt.

Claim IV (SR-VI-Page 913)- Among other things, Gore asserted in this claim that trial counsel failed to effectively object to the introduction of Lisa Ingram's testimony regarding a purse found, and regarding statements made to her by Gore concerning the purse and a woman he had killed. At trial, and on direct appeal, Gore argued that the testimony was not relevant. The Supreme Court found that the testimony was admissible as an admission, but commented: "Testimony had previously established that Roark had a purse with her on the night she disappeared. While there are some timing problems with this testimony, as well as a lack of connection between Roark's purse and the purse Ingram saw in the car, these were matters to be considered by the jury in evaluating the weight to give this testimony and did not render the evidence inadmissible. (Gore, supra, Page 983)

Gore further alleged in claim IV that trial counsel was prevented by the State from effectively deposing witnesses. (Sr-VI-Page 913)

Gore also asserted that he told trial counsel prior to trial about an address or phone book obtained from Gore by the State, which had the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of witnesses who could corroborate his statements. Trial counsel failed to procure the book. (SR-VI-Page 914) Gore also asserted that the State violated F.R.Crim.P.3.220 by failing or refusing to give the book or witness information to the defense. (SR-VI-Page 915)

Claim VII (SR-VI-Page 20)- Gore asserted in this claim that trial counsel failed to investigate Gore's complaints that witnesses were violating the sequestration rule and were violating the court's order by discussing the case, failed to move for a change of venue, and there existed a level of enmity between trial counsel and Gore, resulting in counsel's failure to pursue Gore's timely request for new counsel. In this claim Gore again asserts that trial counsel failed to understand the difference between venue and jurisdiction, and claims, among other things, that trial counsel failed to investigate present available mitigation evidence.

Claim XIV (Page SR-VI-942)- Gore asserted in this claim that the prosecutor made repeated inflammatory, improper, and prejudicial comments during both the guilt phase argument and in the penalty phase argument. Examples of the alleged

misconduct were cited from the record. Gore also asserts that to the extent trial counsel failed to object, Gore was prejudiced, and denied effective counsel.

Claim XVII (SR-VI-Page 954)- In this claim Gore asserts that since the indictment only charged him with premeditated murder, with no charge of felony murder, there was insufficient evidence to convict him at trial, and that the State would, of necessity, have had to pyramid inference upon inference to convict him.

The claim further asserts that trial counsel was ineffective because counsel failed to argue to the court during his motion for acquittal, or in his motion for new trial, either the insufficiency of the evidence, or that the jury would have had to pyramid inferences to convict as charged. Further, no claim for insufficient evidence was made in the direct appeal.

Claim XVIII (SR-VI-Page 961)- This claim asserts that the appellant was prejudiced, and that trial counsel was ineffective for his failure to investigate or present evidence of mitigation during the penalty phase. Specific claims about trial counsel's failure to present mitigation testimony concerning the defendant's mental problems and mental disabilities are asserted.

Claim XIX (SR-VI-Page 972)- In this claim Gore asserts that the prosecutor made impermissible statements and suggestions to the jury during voir dire, and trial counsel failed to object, or to move for mistrial, etc. The prosecutor is alleged to

have repeatedly asked prospective jurors if they could vote for death if the aggravating factors <u>required</u> or <u>called for</u> such a sentence. (Citing R-278-280, 308, 310, 519, 533, 540, 574-575, 614, 763, and 776)

Claim XX (SR-VI-Page 975)- This claim asserts, among other things, that Gore did not have adequate mental health assistance at or during trial, and further asserts that he was prejudiced, and trial counsel was ineffective by his failure to provide background materials to the mental health experts who were involved in the case, especially during penalty phase.

Claim XXII (SR-VI-Page 981)- This claim asserts fundamental error which diluted the jury's sense of responsibility towards sentencing. The claim asserts that the trial court impermissibly stated during penalty phase instruction that the jury's role was simply to recommend a sentence in an advisory capacity, while the final decision regarding punishment rests solely with the judge. (Citing R-2588, 2716)

Claim XXIX (SR-VI-Page 999)- This claim asserts essentially that the trial court prepared his written findings and the sentencing order prior to a <u>Spencer</u> hearing, and prior to trial counsel having an opportunity to be heard. The claim also asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the issue.

Claim XXX (SR-VI-Page 1002) asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for his failure to challenge certain jurors for cause, although cause existed in the record.

The claim further alleges prejudice to the appellant, and ineffective assistance of counsel for his failure to object, or to preserve the issue.

Claim XXXI (SR-VI-Page 1006)- This claim asserts that the trial judge had improper ex parte communications with a juror, and excused the juror without consulting either trial counsel. The claim also asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for his failure to object to the matter.

Claim XXXV (Pretrial publicity) (SR-VI-Page 1011)- This claim asserts that Gore was denied Due Process of law because of pretrial publicity, and failure to change venue. Please note that claim VII, also alleges ineffective counsel for trial counsel's failure to move for a change in venue.

The trial court entered an Order following the <u>Huff</u> hearing, wherein all of the claims filed by Gore were summarily denied, except for the ineffective assistance of counsel claims set forth within claims VII and XVIII. (SR-V-869 thru 877)

More specifically, and with reference to the pertinent claims mentioned herein, the trial court, on the grounds that they were procedurally barred, summarily denied claim II (jurisdiction), claim XIV prosecutorial argument), claim XVII (sufficiency of the evidence), claim XIX (mandatory death recommendation), claim XX (adequacy of mental health assistance), claim XXII (violation of <u>Caldwell v</u> <u>Mississippi</u>), claim XXIX (recess prior to sentencing), claim XXX (challenging for

cause), and claim XXXI (defense witness testimony), and claim XXXV (pretrial publicity). (SR-V-872)

The trial court continued by saying that "Any allegations of ineffectiveness in these claims are insufficient either to overcome the procedural bars or to warrant an evidentiary hearing". (SR-V-873)

As to claim IV, the trial court summarily denied it as being insufficiently pled, and then added that "Any allegations of counsel's ineffectiveness in claim IV are insufficient to provide relief." (SR-V-873)

At the evidentiary hearing held December 14, 2000, counsel re-stated the claims which were summarily denied, and objected to the summary denial of the claims, while asking for an evidentiary hearing on said claims. The trial court adopted its previous rulings. (SR-XVII-1754)

During the evidentiary hearing, Jimmy Hunt, Gore's trial counsel, was sworn, and was asked questions concerning pre-trial publicity, and whether he moved for a change of venue. (SR-XVII-1761 thru 1763) Witness Hunt stated that some of the venire had heard about the case, but compared to other murder cases, little was known about Gore's case. The witness also testified that he and Gore discussed filing for a change of venue, but he did not file a motion. (SR-XVII-1762)

Also during the evidentiary hearing, witness Hunt was asked about the

information he had available concerning Gore's mental history. (SR-XVII-1778 thru 1780) The witness admitted that he had information concerning Gore's prior efforts at attempting suicide, drug overdose, and substance abuse. Notwithstanding this information, the said trial counsel did not use any of the information during penalty phase.

During the evidentiary hearing, the State placed into evidence (Exhibit One) witness Hunt's trial counsel notes of interviews with Gore. (SR-XVII-1790) Also introduced as evidence (Exhibit Three) were copies of correspondence between witness Hunt and doctors Krop and Mhatre. (SR-XVII-1793)

Following the State's examination of witness Hunt, undersigned counsel readdressed questions to the witness concerning the trial counsel notes and the correspondence between himself and the two doctors. (SR-XVII-1802 thru 1805) During this series of questions and answers, the witness admitted making notes concerning Gore's use of various drugs, and his effort to commit suicide was explained. In essence, Gore told Hunt that it was not himself he was trying to kill. Instead, it was another person (his alter ego) Tony James Jordan. (SR-XVII-Page 1802) Also, Gore told Hunt about his visualization of a pipeline into heaven like Jacobs ladder, and that he had "delivered" Susan Roark. (SR-XVII-Page 1803) Hunt admitted also that there were numerous other references to God and other

alter egos used by Gore in his notes, but there was no mention whatever of any of the material to either of the two doctor experts in the correspondence. Further, Hunt did not send his notes to the doctors. (SR-XVII-Page 1804)

Following the evidentiary hearing held December 14, 2000, and following written arguments by counsel, the trial court entered its order denying the claims asserted in claim VII and XVIII. (SR-IX-1498 thru 1513)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- Issue I- Appellant argues that trial counsel was ineffective in a number of areas, and that the trial court committed error when it summarily denied claims II thru XXXV as being procedurally barred, when there existed no record reference conclusively refuting the claims filed by appellant, and/or where fundamental error was claimed. By denying these claims summarily, the trial court has denied the appellant due process of law.
- Issue II- Appellant argues that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to effectively object to the introduction of collateral crime evidence, and in failing to procure exculpatory evidence and defense witnesses, thereby denying appellant due process of law.
- Issue III- Appellant argues that the trial court erred when it denied claims VII and XVIII subsequent to an evidentiary hearing, because there exists supporting evidence to establish trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to investigate or to provide defense experts with mental mitigation evidence during the penalty phase, and by failing to seek a change of venue, depriving appellant of a fair trial.

#### **ISSUES**

- ISSUE I: Did the trial court commit error when it summarily denied as procedurally barred claim II (jurisdiction), claim XIV (prosecutorial argument), claim XVII (sufficiency of evidence), claim XIX (mandatory death recommendation), claim XX (adequacy of mental health assistance), claim XXII (violation of Caldwell v Mississippi), claim XXIX (recess prior to sentencing), claim XXX (challenge for cause), claim XXXI (defense witness testimony), and claim XXXV (pretrial publicity)?
- ISSUE II: Did the trial court commit error when it summarily denied claim IV (no adversarial testing) as being insufficiently pled?
- ISSUE III: Did the trial court commit error when it denied Appellant's claims of ineffective counsel following the evidentiary hearing, as said claims were set forth in claims VII and XVIII?

#### **ARGUMENT**

ISSUE I: Did the trial court commit error when it summarily denied as procedurally barred claim II (jurisdiction), claim XIV (prosecutorial argument), claim XVII (sufficiency of evidence), claim XIX (mandatory death recommendation), claim XX (adequacy of mental health assistance), claim XXII (violation of Caldwell v Mississippi), claim XXIX (recess prior to sentencing), claim XXX (challenge for cause), and claim XXXI (defense witness testimony)?

Summary Denial of Postconviction Claims in general-

The standard of review to uphold a trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion is that the claims must either be facially invalid, or be conclusively refuted by the record. (Peede v State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999) Further, and pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P.3.850(d), a postconviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief. See Floyd v State, 2002WL58547, 27 Fla.L.Weekly S75, at 2. See also Peede, supra., at 257.

Further, upon review of a trial court's summary denial of post-conviction claims, the Supreme Court must accept a defendant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted in the record. Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037,

1041 (Fla.2000), <u>Peede</u>, supra., at 257.

Claim II (Jurisdiction)-

Gore asserted in claim II of his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence that the State of Florida lacked jurisdiction to try him, and that his Fifth, Sixth, Eight, and Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated. The primary basis for the claim was that none of the essential elements of the charged offenses were proven to have occurred in Florida. Gore also asserted in claim II, that trial counsel was ineffective for his failure to raise jurisdiction as an issue, either during pleadings, argument, or in his motion for new trial. (SR-VI-908 thru 912) In his claim, Gore also alleges that the State's argument concerning not having to prove where the offense occurred actually compounded the problem, and trial counsel failed to object, and failed to raise the issue of jurisdiction.

The State's theory of the case at trial was that Gore met Susan Roark on January 30, 1988, in Tennessee, and that she was murdered on January 31, 1988, the same day she was reported missing in the State of Tennessee. (R-932 thru 935)

We know from the evidence that Gore arrived in Tampa, Florida on the same day, January 31, 1988, driving a black Mustang. (Gore, supra, at page 980)

The victim's body (Roark) was found in Columbia County, Florida on April 2, 1988. (R-956 thru 957) Doctor Maples, a forensic anthropologist, testified that the

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