### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-1524

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASST. DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

The facts and circumstances surrounding the death of Susan Roark may be found in the opinion of the Florida Supreme Court affirming Gore's conviction and sentence of death, Gore v. State, 599 So.2d 978 (Fla.), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 610 (1992). Those facts reflect:

Susan Roark was last seen alive on January 30, 1988, in Cleveland, Tennessee, in the company of Marshall Lee Gore. Gore had planned to travel to Florida with a friend from Cleveland. While waiting for his friend at a convenience store, Gore struck up a conversation with Roark. Gore then entered Roark's car, a black Mustang, and they drove away.

Gore accompanied Roark to a party at the home of a friend of hers. Roark had planned to spend the night at her friend's home. Sometime between 11:30 and 12:00, Roark left to drive Gore home. She never returned. The following day Roark's grandmother reported her missing. She had been expected home at 7:00 a.m. that morning.

Gore arrived in Tampa on January 31, driving a black Mustang. He convinced a friend to help him pawn several items of jewelry later identified as belonging to Roark. Gore then proceeded to Miami, where police subsequently recovered Roark's Mustang after it was abandoned in a two car accident. Gore's fingerprint was found in the car, as well as a traffic ticket which had been issued to him while he was in Miami.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  OTR - Original Trial Record and PCR - Postconviction Record - are used to delineate citations to the records in this case.

On April 2, 1988, the skeletonized remains of Roark's body were discovered in Columbia County, Florida. The naked body was found in a wooded area which has been used as an unauthorized dumping ground for household garbage and refuse. Expert testimony established that the body was placed in its location either at the time of death or within two hours of death. The body could have been there anywhere from two weeks to six months prior to discovery. The forensic pathologist who testified for the state concluded that the cause of death was a homicide, given the situation in which the body was found and the fact that the neck area of the body was completely missing. The pathologist explained that this was probably due to some injury to the neck, such as a stab wound or a strangulation which provided favorable trauma, а environment insects to for begin the deterioration process.

Gore was found guilty of first degree murder, kidnapping and robbery. The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 11 to 1, and the trial court followed this recommendation.

### Gore v. State, 599 So.2d at 980.

In sentencing Gore to death, the trial court found that four aggravating factors (prior conviction of violent felony; committed during a kidnapping; committed for pecuniary gain; and cold, calculated and premeditated (CCP)) outweighed the mitigating evidence.

Gore raised seven issues on direct appeal: (1) the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress Gore's statements; (2) the trial court erred in allowing the State to present

evidence of collateral crimes; (3) the trial court erred by denying a motion for continuance regarding a defense witness and in not allowing Gore to attend that witnesses deposition; (4) the trial court erred in denying the motion for acquittal as to the kidnapping charge; (5) the trial court erred in excusing the victim's stepmother from the rule of sequestration; (6) the trial court erred in allowing the prosecutor to question the defense expert about Gore's sanity at the time of the offense, and (7) the trial court erred in finding the CCP, prior conviction, and felony murder/kidnapping aggravators. In Gore v. State, 599 So.2d at 981-87, the court agreed that the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator should not have been found, but affirmed as to all other issues. After striking the CCP aggravator, the court performed a harmless error analysis and concluded:

There is no reasonable possibility that the trial court would have concluded that the three valid aggravating factors were outweighed by the mitigating evidence.

599 So.2d at 987. The court then affirmed Gore's death sentence.

Gore filed his original motion for postconviction relief in May 1994. The motion contained thirty-seven claims, most of which were mere allegations that the claims could not be fully pled until public records had been disclosed. Following a

series of motions and hearings on said motions, CCRC finally filed an amended motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence on February 27, 1997. The amended motion contained forty-seven claims and, albeit, public records had been disclosed, several of the new claims included allegations contained in the original motion that purportedly could not been fully pled because public records were not disclosed. The State filed its response to amended to vacate conviction and sentence on April 1, 1997, addressing all claims.

On June 13, 1997, the trial court entered an order pursuant to the <u>Huff</u> hearing held. Gore's counsel argued that it was necessary an evidentiary hearing be held on all forty-five issues presented, while the State argued that the claims requiring further evidentiary development were the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel found in claims VII and XVIII. With regard to all other claims, the State argued that they were either procedurally barred, insufficiently pled, moot, and/or not cognizable in a 3.850 proceeding. The trial court held, in its findings:

1. Claim I (Public Records) is moot for the reasons set out in the State's response. See Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801, 804 (Fla. 1996) (affirming the trial court's finding 'the issue raised by Mills 'procedurally barred as representing matters which were or could have been raised previously for the reasons contained [in] the State's

response.''). This claim is summarily denied.

2. . The following claims are summarily denied because they are procedurally barred under Florida Supreme Court precedent as set out in the State's response, see Mills: II (jurisdiction), VIII and IX (conviction and sentence while incompetent), X (burden shift), conviction), XΙ (nonstatutory aggravators), XIII (trial court's consideration of aggravators), XIV (prosecutorial argument), (constitutionality of the death penalty), (automatic XVI aggravator), XVII (sufficiency of the evidence), XIX (mandatory death recommendation), XX(adequacy of mental health assistance), XXI (waiver or right), XXII (violation <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. (1985)), XXIII through XXV(cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator), IIVXX (overbroad aggravators), XXVIII (pecuniary gain), XXIX (recess prior to sentencing), XXX (challenges for cause), communication XXXI (ex parte prospective juror), XXXII (defense witnesses testimony), XXXIII (bailiff's communication with jurors), XXXIV (similar fact evidence), XXXV (pretrial publicity), XXXVI (cumulative error), XXXVIII (shackling), XXXIX (law library), XL (interviewing jurors), XLI (absence), XLII (insanity), XLIII (selection of Grand Jury), and XLIV (violation of Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)). Any allegations of ineffectiveness in these claims are insufficient either to overcome the procedural bars or to warrant evidentiary hearing. Despite full public records disclosure and in spite of having more than two years to prepare the amended motion, most of these claims insufficiently pled. Furthermore, for the reasons set out in the State's response, many of these claims have no factual basis in the record (e.g., II, VIII-X, XIV, XVII,

- XX, XXX, XXXI, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVIII, XLI, XLI, and XLIV). Any public records allegations in claims XLII through XLV are moot.
- 3. The following claims are summarily denied because they are insufficiently pled: III (denial of adversarial testing), IV (whether the outcome of Gore's trial was reliable), V (newly discovered evidence), VI (the State withheld exculpatory evidence). Besides being insufficiently pled, claim IV contains subclaims that are procedurally barred and without merit as set out in the State's response. Any allegations of counsel's ineffectiveness in claim IV are insufficient to provide relief.
- 4. The following claims are summarily denied because they are not cognizable in these proceedings and should have been raised in some other form: XXVI (Florida Supreme Court performed inadequate harmless error analysis), XXXVII (inadequate transcript precluded reliable appellate review), and XLV (funding). See Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100, 103 (Fla. 1994) ('the trial court has no authority to review the actions of [the Florida Supreme] Court').
- The following claims are cognizable in postconviction proceedings and would warrant an evidentiary hearing if sufficiently pled: VII (ineffectiveness of trial counsel), and XVIII (ineffective assistance at the penalty phase). Claim VII raises twenty-two alleged instances of ineffectiveness in paragraph 11 through 29, 32, 18 [sic], and 35 (page 24-29 of the amended motion). These allegations are insufficiently pled, however. example, paragraph 15 (amended motion at 25), states: 'Mr. Gore's attorney was given the name [sic] the witnesses that would have offered evidence necessary establishing a verdict of not guilty but he failed to investigate them.' (Paragraph 20

(amended motion at 25), states: 'Counsel failed to secure expert witnesses that would have rebutted and negated the testimony of the State's expert witnesses.' As currently set out, the allegations in claim VII are inadequate; they fail to identify the witness counsel was allegedly ineffective for failing to call, are devoid of any facts as to what those witnesses would have testified to, and are inadequate demonstrate either let alone both parts of the test for ineffectiveness set out in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

This Court, however, recognizes that trial courts are encouraged 'to hold evidentiary hearings on postconviction claims when those courts deem such actions warranted . . . because there findings of fact are but valuable aids to reviewing courts.' Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670, 679 n.2 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, instead of summarily denying the twenty-two allegations in this claim as insufficiently pled, the court directs Gore to specifically plead the allegations in the above listed paragraphs (11 through 29, 32, 18, and 35), including naming the witnesses and setting out the evidence that will support the allegations, providing the substance of the witnesses' testimony, and explaining how such testimony and evidence demonstrates trial counsel's ineffectiveness. Record citations should be provided where applicable. Failure correct the adequacies of any allegation will result in that allegation's summary denial as insufficiently pled.

Claims XVIII suffers from the same deficiencies as Claim VII. Gore argues that trial counsel failed to discover and present mitigating evidence (amended motion at 65, paragraph 10). Paragraph 12 (page 65), and 18 (page 68), appear to set out the areas of counsel's alleged failures:

12. At the penalty phase, counsel provided only scant information about Mr. Gore to the judge and jury in contrast to the vast amounts of compelling information that was available in mitigation. Investigation has revealed evidence indicating that Mr. Gore may suffer from brain damage and schizophrenia, that he was raped as a child by family members, that there is a history of mental instability in Mr. Gore's family, and further information supporting statutory and nonstatutory mitigation . . .

18. Substantial and valuable lay and expert testimony as to Mr. Gore's intoxication was available, but not considered at all in terms of establishing mitigating circumstances (R 1371, 1073, 2344).

As with Claim VII, however, no specifics are included to identify the witnesses and evidence that would support allegations. Therefore, Gore is directed to plead these claims with more specificity or will be denied summarily they insufficiently pled. Any allegations as to public records in Claims VII and XVIII are moot.

### Conclusion

As stated above, an evidentiary hearing will be held on the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in Claims VII and XVIII if pleads them Gore with All other particularity. claims are summarily denied for the reasons set out above. Claims VII and XVIII must be repled by July 21, 1997. Any allegations of ineffectiveness that remain inadequately pled after that date will be summarily denied. Gore will file his witness list on August 19, 1997, and the State will file its witness on August 29, 1997. Thereafter, the Court will conduct an evidentiary hearing on the sufficiently pled allegations in Claims VII and XVIII on September 17-18, 1997, at the Columbia County Courthouse, beginning at 9:00 a.m.

(PCR V, 871-877).

On or about July 21, 1997, Gore filed an amended motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend. Therein Gore asked for additional requests for leave to amend and restated claims VII and XVIII with regard to the ineffectiveness of counsel at the guilt and penalty phase of his trial.

Following the amended motion in July 1997, a series of motions to disqualify the trial court and the State Attorney's Office, and to determine Gore's competency were filed and adjudicated. The record reflects that collateral counsel filed a motion to determine Gore's competency to proceed on April 15, 1998, wherein counsel alleged that Gore had no ability to consult with his lawyer regarding postconviction matters. A hearing was held on April 27, 1998, with regard to the motion at which point the State had no objection to a mental health examination being performed. The court appointed psychiatrists Dr. Umesh Mhatre and Dr. Kevin Holbert to examine him. Gore

hired Dr. Terry Leland and Dr. Harry McClaren as defense experts. The trial court, after hearing all the testimony and reviewing the reports presented by the experts, concluded:

Applying the above stated principles to the evidence presented at the competency hearing, this court concludes that Gore is competent to proceed. The defense experts, McClaren and Leland, found delusional and incapable of cooperating with collateral counsel. The court experts, Drs. Mhatre and Holbert, on the other hand, found that Gore was not delusional and that he can, if he chooses to do so, cooperate with The court finds the reports and counsel. testimony of Mhatre and Holbert to be more persuasive than that of McClaren and Leland.